Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-21-2010

State v. Keyes Appellant's Brief Dckt. 36695

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Daniel K. Keyes, II, appeals from his judgment of conviction for first degree arson. Mr. Keyes was convicted following a jury trial and the district court imposed a unified sentence of twenty years, with five years fixed. Mr. Keyes now appeals, and he asserts that the district court erred by failing to grant a mistrial after an expert witness for the State invaded the province of the jury by stating his belief that the fire was deliberately set by Mr. Keyes.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

At approximately 3:00 a.m. on August 11, 2008, Helen Howell telephoned 911 to report that the duplex next to her home was on fire. (Trial Tr., p.55, Ls.18-21.) After she called 911, she went to the back yard of the duplex and saw her neighbor, Mr. Keyes, trying to extinguish the fire with a garden hose. (Trial Tr., p.59, Ls.3-19.) Desiree Eckard lived at the residence. (Trial Tr., p.90, Ls.7-9.) She had been in a relationship with Mr. Keyes and they had lived at the residence together. (Trial Tr., p.92, Ls.11-25.)

On the day before the fire, Ms. Eckard had been informed that Mr. Keyes was being released from the Kootenai County Jail; Mr. Keyes had been incarcerated for violating a no-contact order issued with regard to Ms. Eckard. (Trial Tr., p.97, Ls.3-5, p.73, Ls.10-15.) About a week before Mr. Keyes was released, Ms. Eckard had made the decision to end the relationship. (Trial Tr., p.110, Ls.22-25/)

Mr. Keyes went to the residence after being released and Ms. Eckard told him that she was going to end the relationship. (Trial Tr., p.117, Ls.22-25.) According to Ms. Eckard, Mr. Keyes told her that she needed to leave while it was still safe. (Trial Tr., p.118, Ls.2-5.) Ms. Eckard gathered some of her belongings and her pets and left the residence. (Trial Tr., p.119, Ls.2-20.) She stated that she took her pet birds because Mr. Keyes had previously threatened to "roast" them. (Trial Tr., p.119, Ls.16-20.)

Mr. Keyes testified as to his role in the fire. He explained that when he was released from jail, he went home expecting to live with Ms. Eckard because "we were engaged, and she was pregnant with our kid. I didn't see anything coming." (Trial Tr., p.395, Ls.3-25.) When she informed him of her plans, he became upset. (Trial Tr., p.396, Ls.1-7.) He stayed at the residence for approximately an hour and left to get some money, cigarettes, vodka and orange juice. (Trial Tr., p.399, Ls.4-8.) He made a couple of drinks and tried to relax for a while. (Trial Tr., p.399, Ls.14-16.) He stated that at around 7:00 pm, he decided to start a fire in the fireplace. (Trial Tr., p.400, Ls.16-23.) He became "extremely" intoxicated. (Trial Tr., p.402, Ls.10-11.)

He testified that "during the night I was throwing a whole bunch - you know – papers and junk mail and all kinds of stuff in there." (Trial Tr., p.402, Ls.15-18.) He acknowledged that he threw some of Ms. Eckard's clothing and a jewelry box into the fire. (Trial Tr., p.404, L.18 – p.406, L.20.) Mr. Keyes slept for a while, and when he work up, he

looked over at the fireplace, and my fire had pretty much died down. At the bottom of my fireplace, it was all like the red embers, coals, whatever you want to call it, everything that burned. That was just kind of glowing, but there above there's like a grill along the top a bunch of slats. I don't know what it is, but that was glowing red. And I thought, 'that's weird. I've never seen that before.'

(Trial Tr., p.410, Ls.1-7.) He went into the garage to investigate this glow because the back of the chimney was in the garage. (Trial Tr., p.411, Ls.16-21.) As soon as he opened the garage door, "smoke and flames just came out." (Trial Tr., p.412, Ls.8-12.) He picked up a garden hose in an attempt to extinguish the fire. (Trial Tr., p.412, Ls.14-20.) He eventually went out to the front of the house and saw that his car was catching fire. (Trial Tr., p.418, Ls.9-15.) He got into the car and backed out of the driveway very quickly. (Trial Tr., p.419, Ls.1-4.) Drove down the street "as fast as I could because there was huge amounts of fire on my car." (Trial Tr., p.419, Ls.7-9.) The reason that he did not return to the residence was because he was panicked and drunk. (Trial Tr., p.422, Ls.21-22.)

Steven Field, who was in the duplex that evening, testified that he smelled a flammable solvent that evening, but wasn't going to interfere in the affairs of the folks next door." (Trial Tr., p.209, Ls.23-25.) Mr. Field had worked in a painting store and worked daily with paint thinners and solvents. (Trial Tr., p.207, Ls.1-8.) Mr. Keyes denied using any kind of solvent or paint thinner in the fire. (Tr., p.428, Ls.3-14.)

Brian Halvorson, a fire investigator, also testified. (Trial Tr., p.262, Ls.5-8.) He testified that there were two separate origins of the fire and that the fire was intentionally lit. (Trial Tr., p.290, Ls.6-18.) Glenn Lauper, the deputy chief with the Coeur d'Alene Fire Department, also testified. (Trial Tr., p.330, Ls.9-17.) He stated that he believed that the garage was a potential point of origin for the fire. (Trial Tr., p.339, Ls.11-14.) He believed the fire could also have originated in the living room. (Trial Tr., p.339, Ls.18-25.) When asked, based upon his training and experience, whether he had an

opinion as to the origin of the fire, Deputy Lauper stated, "it's an incendiary fire. The fire was deliberately set by the defendant." (Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.22-23.)

Counsel for Mr. Keyes objected and moved for a mistrial. (Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.24-25.) The district court responded,

The objection is sustained. The jury will disregard the statements of the witness attributing fault to the defendant. That's the province of the jury. The witness knows and should know and counsel should know that that is not proper for him to be stating. And you will disregard it. That is your function. That is not his function.

Request for mistrial is denied.

(Trial Tr., p.351, Ls.1-8.)

Mr. Keyes was charged by Information with one count of arson in the first degree, I.C. § 18-802. (R. p.54.) He was convicted following a jury trial. (R., p.211.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of twenty years, with five years fixed. (Trial Tr., p. 550, Ls.14-21.) Mr. Keyes appealed. (R., p.263.) He asserts that the district court erred by failing to grant a mistrial following Deputy Lauper's testimony.

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did Deputy Lauper's testimony that Mr. Keyes had deliberated started the fire impermissibly invade the province of the jury?

ARGUMENT

Deputy Lauper's Testimony Regarding Whether Mr. Keyes Deliberately Set the Fire Improperly Invaded The Province Of The Jury And The District Court Erred By Failing To Grant A Mistrial

A. <u>Introduction</u>

In this case, Deputy Lauper testified as to the ultimate issue for the jury's determination: whether Mr. Keyes deliberately set the fire. The prosecutor elicited this opinion as expert testimony. Because the issue of whether Mr. Keyes deliberately set the fire was the ultimate question for the jury to determine, Deputy Lauper's testimony was improper. While the district court sustained Mr. Keyes' objection, the district court erred by failing to grant the motion for a mistrial.

B. Deputy Lauper's Testimony Regarding Whether Mr. Keyes Deliberately Set the Fire Improperly Invaded The Province Of The Jury And The District Court Erred By Failing To Grant A Mistrial

Expert witnesses may testify in the form of an opinion provided that: (1) they are properly qualified as an expert by their knowledge, skill, experience, or training; and (2) their specialized knowledge will assist the trial of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. I.R.E. 702. Idaho Rule of Evidence 704 also provides that opinion testimony "is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." I.R.E. 704.

However, Idaho case law consistently recognizes that the provisions of I.R.E. 704, which permits opinion testimony that embraces an ultimate issue, must be read in conjunction with I.R.E. 702. *See, e.g., State v. Hester*, 114 Idaho 688, 696, 760 P.2d 27, 35 (1988). Specifically, where the expert opinion testimony only serves to

"impermissibly evaluate the circumstances and render the same conclusion the jury was asked to render by its verdict," then such testimony is improperly admitted. *Id.*; see also State v. Raudebaugh, 124 Idaho 758, 768, 864 P.2d 596, 606 (1993); State v. Johnson, 119 Idaho 852, 855, 810 P.2d 1138, 1141 (1991).

The Court in *Hester* adopted the following language and reasoning of the Kansas Supreme Court in *State v. Lash*, 699 P.2d 49 (Kan. 1985):

[T]he opinion testimony of experts on the ultimate issue or issues is not admissible without limitations. Such testimony is admissible only insofar as the opinion will aid the jury in the interpretation of technical facts or when it will assist the jury in understanding the material in evidence. . . . Where the normal experience and qualifications of lay jurors permit them to draw proper conclusions from given facts and circumstances, expert conclusions or opinions are inadmissible.

Hester, 114 Idaho at 696, 760 P.2d at 35 (internal citation omitted).

Where an expert testifies as to his or her opinion as to an ultimate issue in a case, and where such testimony is based on specialized experience and training such that a lay juror could not be expected to meaningfully interpret the evidence on his own, this testimony impermissibly invades on the province of the jury and should not be admitted. *Id.* Admission of expert testimony that invades the province of the jury constitutes a violation of the constitutional right to a jury trial. *See State v. Walters*, 120 Idaho 46, 48, 813 P.2d 857, 859 (1991). In the context of an arson expert testifying as to the ultimate issue, the Idaho Supreme Court has stated:

There is little question that Dillard's opinion was prejudicial to Walters' defense. When an arson expert declares that it was the defendant who set the fire in the house, there can be little doubt that the jury was impressed and influenced by the authoritative statement. Had

¹ Both the Sixth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I § 7 of the Idaho Constitution guarantee a criminal defendant the right to a trial by jury. See, e.g., State v. Stover, 140 Idaho 927, 104 P.3d 969 (2005).

Dillard been **prevented from declaring** his damaging opinion, there is at the least a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Most certainly, that probability is "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome."

Id., at 56-57, 813 P.2d at 867-68 (emphasis added). In this case, the district court acknowledged that the testimony was improper, sustained the objection, and admonished the jury that it should not consider the testimony. (Trial Tr., p.351, Ls.1-7.) This was not sufficient, however, as the district court should have granted a mistrial because the testimony so infected the proceedings that it was impossible to "unring the bell" and Deputy Lauper was not "prevented from declaring" his damaging opinion.

Motions for a mistrial are governed by Idaho Criminal Rule 29.1. The Rule states, in relevant part, "[a] mistrial may be declared upon motion of the defendant, when there occurs during the trial an error or legal defect in the proceedings, or conduct inside or outside the courtroom, which is prejudicial to the defendant and deprives the defendant of a fair trial." I.C.R. 29.1.

The standard of review when a district court denies a motion for a mistrial is well established.

[T]he question on appeal is not whether the trial judge reasonably exercised his discretion in light of circumstances existing when the mistrial motion was made. Rather, the question must be whether the event which precipitated the motion for mistrial represented reversible error when viewed in the context of the full record. Thus, where a motion for mistrial has been denied in a criminal case, the "abuse of discretion" standard is a misnomer. The standard, more accurately stated, is one of reversible error. Our focus is upon the continuing impact on the trial of the incident that triggered the mistrial motion. The trial judge's refusal to declare a mistrial will be disturbed only if that incident, viewed retrospectively, constituted reversible error.

State v. Sandoval-Tena, 138 Idaho 908, 71 P.3d 1055 (2003) (quoting State v. Shepherd, 124 Idaho 54, 57, 855 P.2d 891, 894 (Ct. App. 1993) (quoting State v. Urguhart, 105 Idaho 92, 95, 665 P.2d 1102, 1105 (Ct. App. 1983))).

[T]he impartiality of the adjudicator goes to the very integrity of the legal system, the *Chapman* harmless-error analysis cannot apply. We have recognized that "some constitutional rights [are] so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never be treated as harmless error." *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S., at 23, 87 S.Ct., at 827. The right to an impartial adjudicator, be it judge or jury, is such a right. *Id.*, at 23, n. 8, 87 S.Ct., at 828, n. 8, citing, among other cases, *Tumey v. Ohio*, 273 U.S. 510, 47 S.Ct. 437, 71 L.Ed. 749 (1927) (impartial judge). As was stated in *Witherspoon*, a capital defendant's constitutional right not to be sentenced by a "tribunal organized to return a verdict of death" surely equates with a criminal defendant's right not to have his culpability determined by a "tribunal 'organized to convict.' " 391 U.S., at 521, 88 S.Ct., at 1776, quoting *Fay v. New York*, 332 U.S. 261, 294, 67 S.Ct. 1613, 1630, 91 L.Ed. 2043 (1947).

Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 648, 668 (1987). Mr. Keyes acknowledges that the district court sustained the objection and instructed the jury to disregard the statement and that this Court presumes that the jury followed the district court's instructions. *See State v. Kilby*, 130 Idaho 747, 751, 947 P.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1997); *State v. Hudson*, 129 Idaho 478, 481, 927 P.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 1996). However, Mr. Keyes asserts that Deputy Lauper's testimony so infected the proceedings that the only sufficient remedy was a mistrial.

As the Idaho Supreme Court has noted, the type of opinion expressed by Deputy Lauper would impress and influence the jury because it is such an authoritative statement. *Walters*, 120 Idaho at 56-57, 813 P.2d at 867-68. And the court stated that the only way the jury would not have been impacted is if the expert was prevented from giving the opinion. *Id.* In this case, Deputy Lauper gave his opinion, and there can be little doubt that such an opinion would have impressed and influenced the jury. Further,

this case hinged on whether the jury believed Mr. Keyes that the fire occurred accidentally and that he only intended to light a fire in the fireplace, or if it believed the fire department witnesses who testified as to multiple sources of origin. Considering the evidence as a whole, Mr. Keyes respectfully submits that the district court erred by failing to grant a mistrial once Deputy Lauper improperly testified that Mr. Keyes had deliberately set the fire.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Keyes requests that his judgment of conviction be vacated and his case remanded for further proceedings.