8-13-2009

State v. Keyes Respondent's Brief Dckt. 36695

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Daniel Ray Keyes II appeals from the judgment of conviction entered after a jury found him guilty of first degree arson. Specifically, he claims the district court committed reversible error when it denied his motion for a mistrial.

Statement Of Facts And Course Of Proceedings

In the early-morning hours of August 11, 2008, a fire occurred at a duplex in which Keyes and his girlfriend lived. (Trial Tr., p.59, Ls.9-16, p.92, Ls.11-25.) Keyes was seen by his neighbor attempting to extinguish the fire with a garden hose; shortly thereafter, Keyes drove away from the scene in his car. (Trial Tr., p.59, Ls.3-19, p.419, Ls.1-9.) When Keyes returned to the scene during the aftermath of the fire and the ensuing investigation by the fire department, he told the investigators that, earlier in the evening, he had burned several of his girlfriend's personal items in the fireplace, and that the fireplace burned through to the garage. (Trial Tr., p.359, L.3 – p.360, L.16, p.400, L.16 – p.411, L.13.)

Keyes was charged with first-degree arson. (R., pp.54-55.)

The lead investigator on the fire scene was Fire Inspector Halverson, who was assisted by Deputy Fire Chief Lauper. (Trial Tr., p.330, L.24 – p.334, L.4.) Both testified at Keyes's trial regarding their investigation and the conclusions they had drawn about the cause of the fire.

Inspector Halverson testified that, as a result of their investigation and in light of his training and experience, he had concluded there were at least two points of origin of the fire, one in the garage and one in front of the fireplace.

(Trial Tr., p.283, Ls.13-24.) Inspector Halverson further testified that he had reached a conclusion regarding the cause of the fire:

A: The cause of the fire is intentional.

Q: And intentional by what?

A: Intentional by someone lit the fire and caused a fire to happen.

Q: And not that the fireplace didn't malfunction?

A: I'm sorry?

Q: And that the fireplace did not malfunction?

A: Correct.

(Trial Tr., p.290, Ls.7-23.) Keyes did not object to this testimony.

Deputy Fire Chief Lauper also testified as to the investigators' belief that there was more than one point of origin of the fire, and that one of these was located about four or five feet in front of the fireplace hearth, where there was a large burn hole in the living room floor. (Trial Tr., p.339, L.3 – p.340, L.23.) The investigators concluded that the fire at this point of origin was not merely caused by burning items falling out of the fireplace, because there was no burn pattern connecting the hole in the floor back to the fireplace hearth; it simply was an unconnected hole in the floor. (Trial Tr., p.340, Ls.12-23.) After Deputy Fire Chief Lauper testified further, the prosecutor again brought the questioning around to discuss the origins of the fire:

Q: Now, based upon your experience and training, do you have an opinion as to the origin of these – of this fire?

A: I do.

Q: And what is that?

A: It's an incendiary fire. The fire was deliberately set by the defendant.

[DEFENSE COUNSEL]: Objection. Motion for a mistrial.

(Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.17-25.) The district court's response was immediate:

The objection is sustained. The jury will disregard the statements of the witness attributing fault to the defendant. That's the province of the jury. The witness knows and should know and counsel should know that that is not proper for him to be stating. And you will disregard it. That is your function. It is not his function.

(Trial Tr., p.351, Ls.1-8.)

After the court denied the motion and directed the state to restate the question, Deputy Fire Chief Lauper testified regarding his opinion that the point of origin of the fire was in the living room, and that the garage was another potential point of origin. (Trial Tr., p.352, Ls.3-21.) He then testified about his contact with Keyes after he returned to the scene during the investigation before the state asked its last series of questions of Deputy Fire Chief Lauper:

Q: Can you indicate to this jury, based upon your experience and training, Chief, was the cause of this fire an accident, based upon your years of experience?

A: This fire was not an accident.

Q: What was the cause of the fire?

A: It was incendiary.

Q: And what does "incendiary" mean?

A: Incendiary means that it was an intentional, it was a deliberate act to burn property of another person.

(Trial Tr., p.363, L.18 – p.364, L.3.) Keyes did not object to this testimony. The court then took a break for the lunch hour. (Trial Tr., p.364, Ls.6-10.)

After the lunch break, Keyes' counsel brought to the district court's attention the Idaho Supreme Court's opinion in State v. Walters, 120 Idaho 46, 813 P.2d 857 (1990), and a discussion was held off the record regarding the case and its applicability to Keyes's motion for mistrial. (Trial Tr., p.365, Ls.7-24.) Upon coming back on the record, the district court indicated it had reviewed the case, considered it sufficiently distinguishable from Keyes's case, and again denied Keyes's motion for a mistrial. (Trial Tr., p.365, L.23 – p.366, L.14.) The district court told Keyes that he was welcome to keep the issue open and brief it in further detail at the conclusion of the trial. (Trial Tr., p.366, Ls.14-17.)

On cross-examination, Keyes established that Deputy Fire Chief Lauper agreed with the conclusions contained in Inspector Halverson's report (Trial Tr., p.387, Ls.2-19), then had him read those conclusions with respect to the cause of the fire: "It is this investigator's opinion that the cause of the fire is incendiary in nature" (Trial Tr., p.390, Ls.1-3).

After the jury deliberated and returned a verdict of guilty (R., p.211), Keyes renewed his motion for mistrial on the basis of Deputy Fire Chief Lauper's statement "that this was an incendiary fire and that it had been caused or lit by my client" (Trial Tr., p.498, Ls.21-25). The district court later held a hearing on the renewed motion. (Trial Tr., p.502, Ls.13-16.) After hearing argument by the parties, the district court issued its final order denying Keyes's motion for mistrial on the record in open court:

I have given this a lot of thought, and I appreciate the brief the State has done and, of course the briefing that Mr. Neils did at the time of trial.

The first issue is the testimony by the fire chief, or assistant fire chief – I forget which he was – called as an expert at trial. His testimony was the effect that the – when asked the cause of the fire, statements were made that the fire was caused by the intentional acts of the defendant, which first of all, I want to emphasize what was implicit in the statement I made earlier, that, in reviewing this, there was certainly nothing improper about the question or the way the question was asked by Mr. Rierson. It was a proper question. It was simply the response from the deputy chief that was unacceptable. And at the time of trial, I instructed the jury in what I thought was very strong language that this testimony was not acceptable, that the chief – the witness, I should say, knew or at a minimum should have known better than to provide testimony that invades the province of the jury, that the jury was to completely disregard that testimony and they were the ones that were to make the factual findings here, not the witness. I thought the language I used was quite strong. And the jury is presumed to ... follow the instructions of the court. Nothing to indicate they didn't do that or wouldn't do that.

In hindsight I don't see how it could have been handled any different. Of course, Mr. Neil's point is that, no matter how you handled it, the response was improper and should have entitled him to a mistrial. I find that – let me make one other point. And that is that, it would not be surprising that – let me back up. This was not simply any run-of-the-mill expert witness. This was an expert witness who was an employee of the fire department, who was in effect part of the prosecution team in this case. There was a fire department employee sitting with Mr. Rierson during the trial. The jury knew that. And I don't think it would have come as much of a surprise to the jury that the fire department was blaming the defendant for the fire and considered it arson. Nevertheless, I did instruct them to disregard that, and I think the presumption that the jury would follow my instruction is correct.

This case is distinguishable in that respect from the State versus Walters case that Mr. Neils has relied upon.

...

Accordingly, the motion for mistrial is denied.

(Trial Tr., p.510, L.16 – p.512, L.14, p.515, Ls.21-22.)

Keyes timely appealed. (R., pp. 263-265.)

ISSUE

Keyes states the issue on appeal as:

Did Deputy Lauper's testimony that Mr. Keyes had deliberated [sic] started the fire impermissibly invade the province of the jury?

(Appellant's brief, p.5.)

The state wishes to rephrase the issue on appeal as:

Has Keyes failed to show the district court erred by denying his motion for a mistrial based on a single statement that was remedied by a curative instruction?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion By Denying Keyes's Motion For Mistrial

A. Introduction

On direct examination, the state asked Deputy Fire Chief Lauper, who investigated the fire, his opinion as to the "origins of the fire." (Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.17-19.) Deputy Fire Chief Lauper responded: "It's an incendiary fire. The fire was deliberately set by the defendant." (Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.22-23.) Keyes claims the district court erred when it denied his motion for a mistrial based on this testimony. (Appellant's Brief, pp.6-10.) Keyes claims he was entitled to the mistrial because Deputy Fire Chief Lauper "testified as to the ultimate issue for the jury's determination: whether Mr. Keyes deliberately set the fire." (Appellant's Brief, p.6.) Keyes's claim lacks merit. The Deputy Fire Chief's statement had no prejudicial impact on the jury because the district court immediately gave the jury a curative instruction. As such, Keyes has failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion and committed reversible error when it denied his motion for a mistrial.

B. Standard Of Review

On appeal, the standard for review of a motion for mistrial is well-established:

[T]he question on appeal is not whether the trial judge reasonably exercised his discretion in light of the circumstances existing when the mistrial motion was made. Rather, the question must be whether the event which precipitated the motion for mistrial represented reversible error when viewed in the context of the full record. Thus, where a motion for mistrial has been denied in a

criminal case, the 'abuse of discretion' standard is a misnomer. The standard, more accurately stated, is one of reversible error. [The appellate court's] focus is upon the continuing impact on the trial of the incident that triggered the mistrial motion. The trial judge's refusal to declare a mistrial will be disturbed only if that incident, viewed retrospectively, constituted reversible error.

State v. Shepherd, 124 Idaho 54, 57, 855 P.2d 891, 894 (Ct. App. 1993).

C. The District Court Properly Determined That Keyes Was Not Entitled To A Mistrial

1) The Expert Properly Testified That The Fire Was Deliberately Set

Keyes claims the district court should have granted a mistrial because "this case hinged on whether the jury believed Mr. Keyes that the fire occurred accidentally and that he only intended to light a fire in the fireplace, or if it believed the fire department witnesses who testified as to multiple sources of origin." (Appellant's brief, p.10.) In other words, Keyes's objection on appeal is directed to that portion of the objected-to statement that asserted the fire was intentionally set, rather than that portion of the statement that asserted Keyes was the individual who set the fire. As such, Keyes has failed to establish any error in the introduction of this statement, let alone reversible error when the motion for mistrial was denied after the jury had been immediately instructed to disregard the statement.

As an initial matter, Keyes has waived this issue on appeal, as there were several other statements entered into evidence, without objection, expressing the fire inspectors' conclusion that the fire was intentionally set. "It is a fundamental tenet of appellate law that a proper and timely objection must be made in the trial court before an issue is preserved for appeal." State v. Carlson, 134 Idaho 389,

398, 3 P.3d 67, 76 (Ct. App. 2000). Keyes did not object to Inspector Halverson's testimony, and did not ask for a continuing objection after objecting to Deputy Fire Chief Lauper's initial statement, and did not object to his subsequent statement that the fire was intentionally set. Keyes also elicited further testimony from Deputy Fire Chief Lauper that the fire was intentionally set. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for appeal. See also State v. Barnes, 147 Idaho 587, 597, 212 P.3d 1017, 1027 (Ct. App. 2009).

Even if Keyes's appellate argument is considered, the testimony was not improper. Expert witnesses may testify in the form of an opinion provided that: (1) they are properly qualified as an expert by their knowledge, skill, experience, or training; and (2) their specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue. I.R.E. 702. Idaho Rule of Evidence 704 also provides that opinion testimony "is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." I.R.E. 704.

Keyes's reliance on State v. Hester, 114 Idaho 688, 696, 760 P.2d 27, 35 (1988), for his claim that Deputy Fire Chief Lauper's testimony that the fire was intentionally set impermissibly invaded the province of the jury, is misplaced. The Hester Court determined that expert testimony that the child had been abused, an ultimate issue for the jury, was proper and did not invade the province of the jury. However, the court held that the expert exceeded the proper bounds of expert testimony when the expert testified that Hester was the abuser. Hester, 114 Idaho at 692-96, 760 P.2d at 31-35. The court stated that "having an

“having an expert render an opinion as to the identity of the abuser is more of an invasion of the jury’s function rather than an ‘assist’ to the trier of fact.” Id. at 695, 760 P.2d at 34. Testimony regarding the identity of the abuser embraced the ultimate issue in the case, whether or not Hester was the individual who abused the child, i.e., whether or not Hester was guilty. Id.

Deputy Fire Chief Lauper testified that, based on his investigation and the investigation of the other fire inspectors, he had concluded that the fire was intentionally set. Such a conclusion required scientific, technical and specialized knowledge that assisted the trier of fact to understand the evidence before it – to understand that the observations by the fire investigators indicated that the fire was intentionally, rather than accidentally, set. As in Hester, the expert testimony that the fire was intentionally set, though an ultimate issue for the jury, was proper and did not invade the province of the jury.

2) The District Court Properly Denied The Motion For Mistrial

If Keyes’s appeal is construed as being directed to Deputy Fire Chief Lauper’s statement regarding the identity of the person who set the fires, he has failed to establish reversible error on the part of the district court.

The question reviewing courts must ask is “whether the event or events which brought about the motion for mistrial constitute reversible error when viewed in the context of the entire record.” State v. Canelo, 129 Idaho 386, 389, 924 P.2d 1230, 1233 (Ct. App. 1996). Error is not reversible if the appellate court “can conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict would have been

the same if the error had not occurred.” State v. Pickens, 148 Idaho 554, ____, 224 P.3d 1143, 1146 (Ct. App. 2010).

Here, Keyes has not established reversible error. The basis for Keyes’s motion for mistrial was Deputy Fire Chief Lauper’s statement, in response to a question about the origins of the fire, that “[i]t’s an incendiary fire. The fire was deliberately set by the defendant.” (Trial Tr., p.350, Ls.22-23.) Keyes objected and immediately received a strongly worded instruction to the jury to disregard the statement:

The objection is sustained. The jury will disregard the statements of the witness attributing fault to the defendant. That’s the province of the jury. The witness knows and should know and counsel should know that that is not proper for him to be stating. And you will disregard it. That is your function. It is not his function.

(Trial Tr., p.351, Ls.1-7.)

It is well established that “[w]here improper testimony is inadvertently introduced into a trial and the trial court promptly instructs the jury to disregard such evidence, it is ordinarily presumed that the jury obeyed the court’s instruction entirely.” State v. Hill, 140 Idaho 625, 631, 97 P.3d 1014, 1020 (Ct. App. 2004). Consequently, unless there is an “‘overwhelming probability’ that the jury will be unable to follow the court’s instructions, and a strong likelihood that the effect of the evidence would be ‘devastating’” it is “presume[d] that a jury will follow an instruction to disregard inadmissible evidence.” Id. (citing).

The district court, in ruling on the motion for mistrial, recognized that the state did not intentionally elicit the statement (Trial Tr., p.511, Ls.1-6), that the jury was promptly instructed to disregard the statement (Trial Tr., p.511, Ls.6-18,